MAR 28 2018

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

**IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA**

Deputy

PHYLLIS K. MORRIS, as Public
Defender for the County of San
Bernardino,

Petitioner,

v.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SAN
BERNARDINO COUNTY,

Respondent,

THE PEOPLE,

Real Parties in Interest.

Case No. S246214

Court of Appeal Case no.
E066330

Superior Court Case nos.:
CIVDS1610302
ACRAS1600028

PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

PHYLLIS K. MORRIS
Public Defender
County of San Bernardino
STEPHAN J. WILLMS
State Bar no. 196267
Deputy Public Defender
8303 Haven Avenue, Third Floor
Rancho Cucamonga, CA 91730
Telephone: (909) 476-2206
Facsimile: (909) 466-8748
swillms@pd.sbcounty.gov

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Is an Appellate Division of the Superior Court required to appoint counsel for an indigent defendant charged with a misdemeanor offense on an appeal by the prosecution?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

California Rules of Court, rule 8.851(a), only authorizes the Appellate Division of a Superior Court to appoint counsel for a criminal defendant who has been convicted of a misdemeanor. Ruth Zapata Lopez was charged with misdemeanor driving under the influence of alcohol in respondent court and was represented by petitioner. Respondent granted a motion to suppress filed by petitioner on behalf of Ms. Lopez (Cal. Pen. Code, § 1538.5)¹ and the case was dismissed. The People appealed the granting of the suppression motion to the Appellate Division of the Superior Court. (Pen. Code, § 1538.5, subd. (j).) Petitioner requested respondent appoint counsel to represent Ms. Lopez in the Appellate Division proceeding. Respondent denied the request because Ms. Lopez had not been convicted of any criminal offense. When she insisted respondent told petitioner she remained appointed to represent Ms. Lopez in the Appellate Division. Petitioner replied that she had elected to not represent Ms. Lopez in the Appellate Division proceeding, and again requested counsel be appointed to represent Ms. Lopez in the Appellate Division. Respondent refused again, this time advising petitioner that she could either represent Ms. Lopez, or petition the Court of Appeal for a writ. Said writ petition was filed, denied, and a petition for review followed. The petition was granted, and this is petitioner's opening brief.

¹ All Statutory references are to California statutes.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On June 9, 2015, a criminal complaint was filed in respondent court charging Ruth Zapata Lopez with misdemeanor driving under the influence of alcohol. The complaint further alleged Ms. Lopez had a prior conviction. On March 11, 2016, Ms. Lopez' motion to suppress was granted. The case was dismissed on March 14, 2016. The People appealed the granting of the suppression motion to the Appellate Division of the Superior Court.

On May 6, 2016, petitioner asked the Appellate Division to appoint counsel to represent Ms. Lopez in the appellate proceedings. The request was denied. An Appellate Division clerk explained Ms. Lopez was not entitled to appointed counsel because she was not required to file a reply brief, and "because it's a misdemeanor and under \$500.00."

On May 11, 2016, petitioner attempted to file a written application for the appointment of counsel for Ms. Lopez in the Appellate Division. A clerk familiar with the case told petitioner Ms. Lopez was not entitled to appointed counsel. After further discussion the clerk left to consult with a supervisor. A supervisor came to the clerk's service window and reiterated the Appellate Division's position that Ms. Lopez is not entitled to appointed counsel because she had not been convicted of a misdemeanor. The supervisor did agree to file the application for appointment of counsel, but stamped it "Filed on Demand."

On May 24, 2016, petitioner called the Appellate Division clerk to see if a decision had been made regarding the request for appointed counsel for Ms. Lopez. The clerk who answered the phone told petitioner the Appellate Division's legal research staff had concluded Ms. Lopez was not entitled to appointed counsel in the Appellate Division appeal proceedings, and that the court would not issue any order regarding the application for appointment of

counsel. The clerk then advised petitioner she would remain appointed to represent Ms. Lopez, and that it was in fact her duty to do so. Petitioner told the clerk that *Mowrer v. Appellate Dep't.* (1990) 226 Cal.App.3d 264, states that the Public Defender cannot be compelled to represent a former client on appeal. After further conversations with the research unit, the clerk returned and advised petitioner the Appellate Division remained firm in their position that petitioner remained appointed and it was her duty to represent Ms. Lopez in the Appellate Division proceeding. The clerk told petitioner that she could represent Ms. Lopez or petition the Court of Appeal for a writ. The call ended with the clerk reiterating the Appellate Division would not appoint counsel to represent Ms. Lopez, and would not respond to any further requests for the appointment of counsel for Ms. Lopez.

On June 14, 2016, petitioner filed a petition for a writ of mandate in the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, requesting the Court issue a writ directing the Appellate Division to appoint counsel other than the public defender to represent Ms. Lopez. That petition was denied on June 28, 2016, without prejudice so petitioner could file the same petition in the Appellate Division.

On June 29, 2016, petitioner filed a petition for a writ of mandate in the Appellate Division requesting that court to issue a writ directing itself to appoint counsel other than the public defender to represent Ms. Lopez in the Appellate Division. That petition was summarily denied on July 5, 2016.

On July 7, 2016, petitioner refiled a second original petition for a writ of mandate in the Court of Appeal requesting the issuance of a writ directing the Appellate Division to appoint counsel other than the public defender to represent Ms. Lopez. The petition was summarily denied on July 13, 2016.

On July 22, 2016, petitioner filed a petition for review with a request for a stay in this court. Later that day this court issued an order staying the Appellate Division proceedings and invited respondent to file an answer to the petition. Respondent's answer was filed on August 12, 2016. Petitioner filed her reply on August 22, 2016. On September 14, 2016, the petition for review was granted and the matter was remanded back to the Court of Appeal with directions to vacate the order summarily denying the petition for a writ of mandate, and to issue an order to show cause.

On November 21, 2017, the Court of Appeal denied the petition in a published opinion. The court held that rule 8.851 of the California Rules of Court, which only requires an Appellate Division to appoint counsel for an indigent defendant convicted of a misdemeanor offense, does not violate an indigent respondent's right to appointed counsel guaranteed under the Sixth Amendment to the federal Constitution,² or her right to equal protection and due process of law guaranteed under the Fourteenth Amendment.³ The court did not rule on whether the public defender is required to represent indigent respondents in Appellate Division proceedings.

Petitioner filed her second petition for review on January 2, 2018. The petition for review was granted on February 28, 2018, and this is petitioner's opening brief on the merits.

² "In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right ... to have the assistance of counsel." (U.S. Const., 6th Amend.)

³ "No State...shall...deprive any person of life liberty, or property without due process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws." (U.S. Const., 14th Amend.)

ARGUMENT

I. Indigent respondents in Appellate Division proceedings have a Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to appointed counsel

a. Sixth Amendment

“The Sixth Amendment [right to counsel] guarantees an accused the assistance of counsel not just at trial, but whenever it is necessary to assure a meaningful defense.” (*United States ex rel. Thomas v. O’Leary* (1988) 856 F.2d at p. 1014 (*Thomas*), citing *United States v. Wade* (1967) 388 U.S. 218, 225.) Criminal defendants maintain their Sixth Amendment right to counsel at all “critical stages” of the proceedings. (*Thomas, supra*, 856 F.2d at p. 1014 citing and quoting *Wade, supra*, 383 U.S. at pp. 224-226, and *Coleman v. Alabama* (1970) 399 U.S. 1, 7; *Claudio v. Scully* (2nd Cir. 1992) 982 F.2d 798, 802-03.) Critical stages are those “where potential substantial prejudice to [the] defendant’s rights inheres in the particular confrontation and where counsel’s abilities can help avoid that prejudice.” (*Thomas, supra*, 856 F.2d at p. 1014 citing *Coleman, supra*, 399 U.S. at p. 9.) Pretrial proceedings that “might well settle the accused’s fate and reduce the trial to a mere formality” are critical stages at which a defendant maintains his Sixth Amendment right to counsel. (*Thomas, supra*, 856 F.2d at p. 1014, citing and quoting *Wade, supra*, 388 U.S. at p. 224, and *Coleman, supra*, 399 U.S. at p. 7.) A pretrial appeal to the granting of a suppression motion is clearly a critical stage of a criminal proceeding at which the defendant has a Sixth Amendment right to counsel. (*Thomas, supra*, 856 F.2d at p. 1014; *Claudio, supra*, 982 F.2d at p. 802; *Commonwealth v. Goewey* (2008) 452 Mass. 399, 402.)

Thomas, Claudio, and Goewey, are all squarely on point. In each case the court addressed the exact issue presented in this case;⁴ and in each case

⁴ The issue came before all three courts differently than it has come before this court. In *Thomas, Claudio, and Goewey*, there was a prosecution pretrial

the court held a government pretrial appeal to the granting of the suppression motion was a critical stage of the criminal proceeding at which a defendant has a Sixth Amendment right to counsel. (*Thomas, supra*, 856 F.2d at pp. 1014-1015; *Claudio, supra*, 982 F.2d at p. 802; *Goewey, supra*, 452 Mass. at pp. 402-403.)

Thomas, Claudio, and Goewey, fully explain why the People's pretrial appeal in this matter is a critical stage of the proceedings at which Ms. Lopez maintains her Sixth Amendment right to counsel. There is no doubt that Ms. Lopez' suppression hearing before the trial court was a critical stage at which she was entitled to receive effective assistance of counsel. (*Thomas, supra*, 856 F.2d at p. 1014.) The prosecution was forced to dismiss Ms. Lopez' case after her suppression motion was granted. It is therefore obvious that the outcome of the hearing was crucial to the People's case. If the People prevail on their pretrial appeal, the effect will be the denial of Ms. Lopez' suppression motion, and at that point the People will be able to continue their prosecution. Therefore, the result of the People's pretrial appeal is "no less crucial to [Ms. Lopez] than [the Superior Court] ruling on the suppression motion[]." (*Ibid.*) The prosecution's appeal confronts Ms. Lopez with a new type of adversarial proceeding that requires counsel skilled in persuading the panel of Appellate Division judges by means of brief and oral argument. (*Ibid.*) Following the dismissal of her case, Ms. Lopez now "must face an adversary proceeding that - like a trial - is governed by intricate rules that to a layperson would be

appeal to a granting of a suppression motion, but the defendant in each case was represented by counsel at their respective appeal hearings. However, a threshold issue raised in each case was whether each defendant's counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel at the appeal hearings. Therefore, in each case the court had to first determine whether a defendant had a Sixth Amendment right to counsel at that type of pretrial appeal hearing before determining whether he received ineffective assistance of counsel.

hopelessly forbidding. An unrepresented [respondent,] like an unrepresented defendant at trial - is unable to protect vital interests at stake.” (*Ibid* quoting *Evitts v. Lucey* (1985) 469 U.S. 387, 396.) Therefore, the prosecution appeal in this matter is a critical stage of the proceedings at which Ms. Lopez retains her Sixth Amendment right to counsel. (*Thomas, supra*, 856 F.2d at pp. 1014-15; *Claudio, supra*, 982 F.2d at p. 802; *Goewey, supra*, 452 Mass. at pp. 402-03.)

Ross v. Moffitt (1974) 417 U.S. 600, provides additional support for a determination that Ms. Lopez has a Sixth Amendment right to counsel in the Appellate Division proceedings. (*Claudio, supra*, 982 F.2d at p. 802.) In *Ross* the Supreme Court decided not to extend the right to counsel to post-conviction discretionary appeals. (*Ibid.*) In *Ross*, the Court wrote that:

‘It is ordinarily the defendant, rather than the State, who initiates the appellate process, seeking not to fend off the efforts of the State’s prosecutor but rather to overturn a finding of guilt made by a judge or a jury below. The defendant needs an attorney on appeal not as a shield to protect him against being “haled into court” by the State and stripped of his presumption of innocence, but rather as a sword to upset the prior determination of guilt.’ (*Ibid* quoting *Ross, supra*, 417 U.S. at pp. 610-611, internal quotation marks original.)⁵

Here, Ms. Lopez needs assistance of counsel during the Appellate Division proceedings as a shield, not a sword, because “the prosecution initiated the appellate process at a time when [her] presumption of innocence remained intact.” (*Claudio, supra*, 982 F.2d at p. 803.) Therefore, the prosecution’s

⁵ “In our adversary system of criminal justice, any person haled into court, who is too poor to hire a lawyer, cannot be assured a fair trial unless [he is provided counsel].” (*Gideon v. Wainwright* (1963) 372 U.S. 335, 344.)

pretrial appeal is “unquestionably a critical stage” of the proceedings. (*Id.* at p. 802.)

If the prosecution pretrial appeal in this case is allowed to go forward at present it will be “devoid of any advocacy on behalf” of Ms. Lopez. (*Goewey, supra*, 452 Mass. at p. 405.) The proceedings will not, as they should, involve any adversarial process. (*Ibid.*) Unilateral review of the suppression hearing transcript by the Appellate Division without any advocacy on behalf of Ms. Lopez is not an adequate substitute for her Sixth Amendment right to counsel. (*Ibid* citing *Penon v. Ohio* (1988) 488 U.S. 75, 83-85; See also *Douglas v. California* (1962) 372 U.S. 353, 355-356.) The proper procedure here is for the Appellate Division to decide the People’s pretrial appeal only after receiving briefing and hearing oral argument from counsel advocating on behalf of Ms. Lopez. (*Goewey, supra*, 452 Mass. at p. 405.)

b. Fourteenth Amendment

‘Both equal protection and due process emphasize the central theme of our entire judicial system – all people charged with crime must ... “stand on an equality before the bar of justice in every American court.”’ (*Griffin v. Ill.* (1956) 351 U.S. 12, 17, quoting *Chambers v. Florida* (1940) 309 U.S. 227, 241.) A state that grants a right of appellate review may not do so in a way that discriminates against individuals who are poor. (*Griffin, supra*, 351 U.S. at p. 18.) This would be “a misfit in a country dedicated to affording equal justice to all.” (*Id.* at p. 19.) Indigent defendants must be afforded the same adequate appellate review that is provided to defendants who do have money to pay for representation. (*Ibid; Douglas, supra*, 372 U.S. at p. 355.) There is lacking an equality demanded by the Fourteenth Amendment where the rich man enjoys the benefits of counsel “while the indigent man is forced to shift for himself.” (*Id.* at p. 358.) The United States Supreme Court has for decades now made it abundantly clear that “differences in access to the

instruments needed to vindicate legal rights, when based upon the financial situation of the defendant, are repugnant to the Constitution.” (*Roberts v. La Vallee* (1967) 389 U.S. 40, 42.) There is no distinction between a rule that denies an indigent the right to defend themselves in the trial court, and one denying them the right to defend themselves in an appellate court. (*Griffin, supra*, 351 U.S. at p. 18.)

Ms. Lopez needed to have counsel appointed in the Superior Court to protect herself from the risk of actual imprisonment, and she was appointed counsel as required by the Sixth Amendment. After her suppression motion was granted, Ms. Lopez no longer had a right to appointed counsel because there was no longer a risk of imprisonment. But when the prosecution filed their appeal challenging the granting of the suppression motion, Ms. Lopez was again haled into court, and again faces a risk of actual imprisonment if the prosecution prevails on their appeal. One would think it obvious that Ms. Lopez would have a right to counsel in the Appellate Division because if the prosecution prevails, she will again face a risk of imprisonment if convicted. However, it is at this point that California’s procedures take a rather strange turn. As it turns out, under California procedure, Ms. Lopez does not have a right to appointed counsel to represent her during the People’s pretrial appeal proceedings, notwithstanding the fact that if the prosecution prevails she will again face imprisonment if convicted. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.851(a).) A system of appellate review that functions in this manner violates an indigent defendant’s right to equal protection and due process of law. (*Griffin, supra*, 351 U.S. at p. 18; *Douglas, supra*, 372 U.S. at pp. 357-358.)

The rule 8.851(a) equal protection violation is quite blatant because it creates an appeals process that clearly discriminates between the wealthy and the poor. A defendant, affluent or indigent, has a right to counsel during any Superior Court proceeding. The wealthy defendant may retain counsel, while

an indigent has a Sixth Amendment right to have counsel appointed. That is beyond question. The right to counsel is particularly important in a Superior Court suppression hearing because the outcome of the proceeding will often determine whether or not the prosecution can proceed. (*Thomas, supra*, 856 F.2d at p. 1014; *Claudio, supra*, 982 F.2d at p. 802.) Misdemeanor cases are often dismissed after a suppression motion is granted, and that is exactly what happened in Ms. Lopez' case. And but for the guiding hand of counsel, that would not have happened.

If the prosecution appeals the granting of a suppression motion to the Appellate Division, the defendant is then haled back into court to defend the lower court judgment rendered in her favor. However, in those proceedings, pursuant to rule 8.851(a), indigent defendants have no right to have counsel appointed to assist them in attempting to defend their judgment. Although it is true that “as a litigant’s interest in personal liberty diminishes, so does his right to appointed counsel”⁶ there is no diminution in the liberty interest at risk in an Appellate Division proceeding wherein the prosecution challenges the granting of a suppression motion in the Superior Court, as opposed to the liberty interest that was at stake in the Superior Court suppression hearing. If the suppression motion is denied in the Superior Court, the liberty interest at stake is whatever the maximum punishment is for the charged offense. If an appeal is filed after the granting of a suppression motion and the granting of the motion is reversed on appeal, the liberty interest at stake is whatever the maximum punishment is for the charged offense. The liberty interest at risk is the same regardless of whether the defendant loses a motion to suppress in the Superior Court, or has the granting of his suppression motion reversed in the Appellate Division.

⁶ *Lassiter v. Dept. of Social Services* (1981) 452 U.S. 18, 24.

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