APR 30 2018

S246214

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

The Supreme Court of the State of California

Deputy

PHYLLIS K. MORRIS, as Public Defender
for the County of San Bernardino,
Petitioner,



v.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY,
Respondent,

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Real Parties in Interest

Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, Case
No. E066330

Appellate Division, Case Nos. ACRAS1600028 & CIVDS1610302

San Bernardino County Superior Court, Case No. TWV1502001

Respondent's Answer

San Bernardino Appellate
Division, Respondent
Robert L. Driessen, SBN 242931
Superior Court of San Bernardino
8303 Haven Avenue
Rancho Cucamonga, CA 91730

California Rules

rule 10.1 19
rule 10.20(c) 19
rule 8.851 passim

**I. AN APPELLATE DIVISION OF THE SUPERIOR COURT IS NOT
REQUIRED TO APPOINT COUNSEL FOR AN INDIGENT
DEFENDANT CHARGED WITH A MISDEMEANOR OFFENSE ON
AN APPEAL BY THE PROSECUTION**

At issue is whether an appellate division is required to appoint counsel to an indigent defendant when the prosecution is the appellant. There is no dispute that appellate divisions are only required to appoint counsel pursuant to the California Rules of Court, rule 8.851(a)(1), which sets the standards for appointment on a misdemeanor appeal. Pursuant to rule 8.851(a)(1), an appellate division is only required to appoint counsel when a defendant has **been convicted** of a misdemeanor and is: (1) subject to incarceration, or (2) a fine of more than \$500, or (3) is likely to suffer significant adverse collateral consequences as a result of the conviction **and** the defendant was represented by appointed counsel in the trial court. In all other cases, an appellate division has discretion when to appoint counsel for indigent defendants. There are no statutes, case law, or other legal authority which require an appellate division to appoint counsel on an appeal when a defendant has not been convicted.

Petitioner does not contend the appellate division improperly applied the rule but rather California Rules of Court, rule 8.851(a)(1), is unconstitutional.

a. Rule 8.851(a)(1) Does not Violate the Sixth Amendment

“It is well settled that a defendant charged with any misdemeanor is entitled to counsel, at his own expense, on an appeal from a judgment of conviction. It is equally well settled that, in

California, an indigent defendant charged with either a felony or a misdemeanor is entitled to counsel at public expense at his trial.” (*People v. Wong* (1979) 93 Cal.App.3d 151, 153-54.) Further, the Sixth Amendment requires effective assistance of counsel at critical stages of a criminal proceeding. (*Laffler v. Cooper* (2012) 566 U.S. 156, 165.)

However, a criminal defendant’s rights regarding legal representation are more limited on appeal than at trial. The Sixth Amendment does not include any right to appeal. As the Supreme Court of the United States has held, “[t]he right of appeal, as we presently know it in criminal cases, is purely a creature of statute.” (*Martinez v. Court of Appeal of California, Fourth Appellate Dist.* (2000) 528 U.S. 152, 160.) As the Sixth Amendment does not include any right to appeal, so it implicates no basis for a right to representation by professional counsel on appeal. (*In re Barnett* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 466, 472.) A criminal defendant’s right to counsel through the first appeal as a right derives not from the Sixth Amendment but “‘from the due process and equal protection clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment.’ [Citation.]” (*Martinez, supra*, 528 U.S. at p. 155.) Indeed, none of the Supreme Court of the United States many cases safeguarding the rights of an indigent appellant has placed any reliance on the Sixth Amendment. (See, e.g., *Douglas v. People of State of Cal.* (1963) 372 U.S. 353, 356-358; *Griffin v. Illinois* (1956) 351 U.S. 12, 26; *Martinez, supra*, 528 U.S. at p. 160.)

In *Argersinger v. Hamlin* (1972) 407 U.S. 25, 35-40, the United States Supreme Court appeared to hold that prospective

imprisonment for a misdemeanor offense guarantees indigents a right to appointed counsel, but the Court clarified in *Scott v. Illinois* (1979) 440 U.S. 367, 373-74, that under the Sixth Amendment, this right is limited to cases in which the defendant is actually imprisoned for the charged offense. Although states are free to provide greater rights to indigent defendants, no state is required to do so.

Therefore, *Argersinger* and *Scott* hold that the Sixth Amendment right to counsel in misdemeanor cases is limited to cases where the defendant is actually imprisoned. Thus, until modified by the United States Supreme Court, *Scott* stands for the proposition that under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution, a poor misdemeanor defendant does not have a right to counsel unless “actual imprisonment” actually occurs regardless of the collateral consequences or the fairness of the underlying proceeding. (*Scott, supra*, 440 U.S. at p. 369.) The United States Supreme Court again addressed the issue in *Alabama v. Shelton* (2002) 535 U.S. 654, and reaffirmed the right to counsel under the Sixth Amendment is only required when there is either actual imprisonment or a “a suspended sentence that may end up in the actual deprivation of a person’s liberty.” (*Id.* at p. 658.) (internal quotes omitted)

The only cases that find criminal defendants have a right to effective assistance of counsel in direct appeals via the Sixth Amendment (even though the Constitution does not require States to provide a system of appellate review at all) are those cases, when a State opts to act in a field where it is not required to do so. (See *Lafler, supra*, 566 U.S. at p. 168.) California has not provided any greater protections under the Sixth Amendment than those provided

by the United States Constitution. *People v. Wong* (1979) 93 Cal.App.3d 151, held, “[i]t is well settled that a defendant charged with any misdemeanor is entitled to counsel, at his own expense, on an appeal from a judgment of conviction. It is equally well settled that, in California, an indigent defendant charged with either a felony or a misdemeanor is entitled to counsel at public expense at his trial. It is also the law that the same right to counsel exists in the case of an appeal in a felony case and of an appeal in a misdemeanor case where a sentence of imprisonment has been imposed. We are cited to no cases, and we know of none, that have held that a criminal defendant is entitled to counsel at public expense in situations other than those above listed.” (*Id.* at p. 153-154.) (internal quotes omitted)

Therefore, as California has not expanded any greater protections under the Sixth Amendment than those provided under the United States Constitution, there is no Sixth Amendment right to counsel on an appeal.

Even if the Court was to adopt there is a Sixth Amendment right on appeal, the denial of a right to have counsel present on appeal when a defendant is a respondent would not violate the Sixth Amendment. When a defendant is a respondent to a prosecutor's appeal after the granting of a motion to suppress, would not be a critical stage of the case as there is minimal risk that counsel's absence at such a stage might derogate the right to a fair trial. As this is not a critical stage, there is no Sixth Amendment violation. (See *Kirby v. Illinois* (1972) 406 U.S. 682, 695.) “The determination whether the hearing is a ‘critical stage’ requiring the provision of

counsel depends ... upon an analysis 'whether potential substantial prejudice to defendant's rights inheres in the [particular] confrontation and the ability of counsel to help avoid that prejudice.' [Citations.]” (*People v. Ebert* (1988) 199 Cal.App.3d 40, 44.) “[T]he essence of a “critical stage” is ... the adversary nature of the proceeding, combined with the possibility that a defendant will be prejudiced in some significant way by the absence of counsel.’ [Citation.]” (*People v. Rouse* (2016) 245 Cal.App.4th 292, 297.) An appeal on a motion to suppress is not a critical stage as even an unfavorable outcome to respondent would not prejudice them.

As Ruth Lopez is a respondent, the direct outcome of the appeal cannot lead to any immediate incarceration. Even if one was to assume the Appellate Division was to find in favor of the prosecution, the case would be sent back to the trial court where Ruth Lopez would again be represented by appointed counsel. Therefore, Ruth Lopez would be in exactly the same status as before the trial court made a determination on the motion to suppress. Additionally, there is no showing that the Appellate Division's actions prejudiced Ruth Lopez. At this point, it is just mere speculation and there is no mandatory right to appointed counsel when a defendant is the respondent on appeal.

b. Rule 8.851(a)(1) Does Not Violate the Fourteenth Amendment

The Fourteenth Amendment and its due process and equal protection guarantees, prohibit discrimination against convicted indigent inmates; consequently, an indigent inmate has a constitutional right to counsel appointed at the state's expense

where the state confers a criminal appeal as of right. (*Barnett, supra*, 31 Cal.4th at p. 472.) “[S]tates may exercise broad discretion when considering what representation to allow and may require an indigent inmate ‘to accept against his will a state-appointed attorney’ for representation on a direct appeal without violating the federal Constitution.” (*Id.* at p. 473.)

The United States Supreme Court has established the right to appointed counsel extends to the first appeal of right, and no further. (*Pennsylvania v. Finley* (1987) 481 U.S. 551, 555.) In light of the United States Supreme Court’s conclusion that the Sixth Amendment does not apply to appellate proceedings, “any individual right to self-representation on appeal based on autonomy principles must be grounded in the Due Process Clause.” (*Martinez, supra*, 528 U.S. at p. 161.) However, the right to counsel on appeal based on equal protection does not require the appointment of an attorney for an indigent appellant just because an affluent defendant may retain one. (*Pennsylvania, supra*, 481 U.S. at p. 556.) The state is not required to provide protection against every minor mishap that may follow from indigency. (*Wong, supra*, 93 Cal.App.3d at p. 155.) Convicted criminal defendants are provided counsel “[b]ecause of the undesirability of fruitlessly adding to the burdens of this court the time-consuming task of reading pro se documents which are not properly before us, and, if they be read, of consequently enlarging [the] opinion by a recountal and discussion of the contentions made in propria persona.” (*People v. Mattson* (1959) 51 Cal.2d 777, 798.)

“The duty of the State under our cases is not to duplicate the legal arsenal that may be privately retained by a criminal defendant

in a continuing effort to reverse his conviction, but only to assure the indigent defendant an adequate opportunity to present his claims fairly in the context of the State's appellate process." (*Id.* at p. 616.) "The fact that an appeal has been provided does not automatically mean that a State then acts unfairly by refusing to provide counsel to indigent defendants at every stage of the way. Unfairness results only if indigents are singled out by the State and denied meaningful access to the appellate system because of their poverty." (*Ross v. Moffitt* (1974) 417 U.S. 600, 611.) In *Ross*, the United States Supreme Court concluded that the defendant's access to the trial record, the appellate briefs, and opinions provided sufficient tools for the pro se litigant to gain meaningful access to courts that possess a discretionary power of review. (*Ross, supra*, 417 U.S., at 614-615.)

The Fourteenth Amendment "does not require absolute equality or precisely equal advantages" (*San Antonio Independent School Dist. v. Rodriguez* (1973) 411 U.S. 1, 24), nor does it require the State to "equalize economic conditions." (*Griffin v. Illinois* (1956) 351 U.S. 12, 23.) It does require that the state appellate system be "free of unreasoned distinctions" (*Rinaldi v. Yeager* (1966) 384 U.S. 305, 310) and that indigents have an adequate opportunity to present their claims fairly within the adversary system. (*Draper v. State of Wash.* (1963) 372 U.S. 487, 496.) The State cannot adopt procedures which leave an indigent defendant "entirely cut off from any appeal at all," by virtue of his indigency, (*Lane v. Brown* (1963) 372 U.S. 477, 480), or extend to such indigent defendants merely a "meaningless ritual" while others in better economic circumstances have a "meaningful appeal." (*Douglas v. California, supra*, 372 U.S.

at 358.) The question is not one of absolutes, but one of degrees. (*Ross, supra*, 417 U.S. at p. 612.)

Douglas established the indigent appellant's federal constitutional right to counsel on appeal, based not on a Sixth Amendment right to counsel, but on the Fourteenth Amendment's guarantees of due process and equal protection. *Douglas* held these guarantees are violated when an indigent litigant for whom counsel was appointed in the trial court is denied access to the appellate court on substantially the same terms as a nonindigent litigant in "the first appeal, granted as a matter of right to rich and poor alike, based on a statute." (*Douglas v. California, supra*, 372 U.S. at 356.)

Appointment of counsel for indigents charged with misdemeanors on appeal in California is governed by Rule 8.851(a)(1). These provisions, although perhaps on their face broad enough to cover appointments such as those Petitioner sought here, have generally been construed to limit the right to appointed counsel in criminal cases to direct appeals taken as of right. Thus, California has followed the mandate of *Douglas v. California*, and authorized appointment of counsel for a convicted defendant appealing to the appellate division of a Superior Court, but has not gone beyond *Douglas* to provide for appointment of counsel for a defendant who seeks appointment when they have not been convicted

Therefore, as the United States Supreme Court held, "[w]e do not believe that it can be said, therefore, that a defendant in respondent's circumstances is denied meaningful access to the North Carolina Supreme Court simply because the State does not

appoint counsel to aid him in seeking review in that court.” (*Ross, supra*, 417 U.S. at p. 615.) As in *Ross*, an indigent respondent would have at the very least, a transcript or other record of trial proceedings, a motion on his behalf that was filed at the trial court level setting forth his claims, and in many cases an opinion by the trial court as to why it rendered its decision. These materials, supplemented by whatever submission respondent may make pro se, would appear to provide an appellate division of a Superior Court with an adequate basis for its decision in reviewing the appeal.

An indigent respondent although maybe somewhat handicapped in comparison with a wealthy respondent who has counsel assisting him in every conceivable manner at every stage in the proceeding. Nonetheless both an indigent respondent and a wealthy respondent would have had the opportunity to have counsel prepare a motion to suppress at the trial court. “The fact that a particular service might be of benefit to an indigent defendant does not mean that the service is constitutionally required. The duty of the State under our cases is not to duplicate the legal arsenal that may be privately retained by a criminal defendant in a continuing effort to reverse his conviction, but only to assure the indigent defendant an adequate opportunity to present his claims fairly in the context of the State’s appellate process.” (*Ross, supra*, 417 U.S. at p. 616.)

Rule 8.851, does not deprive Lopez of the right to appeal. First, in an appeal, unlike in the trial court, Lopez will reap the benefit of standards of review and other procedural tools that are designed to protect the ruling the trial court has already made. (*Morris v. Superior Court* (2017) 17 Cal.App.5th 636, 651.) In the absence of

statutory authorization, appellate departments are not required to provide representation on to indigents on misdemeanors when they are a respondent on appeal.

While it is true that Article I, section 13 of the California Constitution guarantees a right of counsel to any person charged with a criminal offense and this guarantee extends to persons charged with misdemeanors. (*Blake v. Municipal Court, Oakland-Piedmont Judicial Dist.* (1966) 242 Cal.App.2d 731, 733.) However, this guarantee does not extend to appeals where they are not the appellant. Regarding the appointment of counsel argument, we need to acknowledge all states, under the Fourteenth Amendment, are obligated to provide a defendant the right to counsel when one's liberty is at issue. (*People v. Delacy* (2011) 192 Cal.App.4th 1481, 1504.) "If the right Lopez has is the right to be free from uncounseled imprisonment, she faces no diminution of that right on appeal, since she will be represented at trial even if the People prevail in the appellate division." (*Morris, supra*, 17 Cal.App.5th at p. 647.) Generally speaking, the right to counsel has been recognized to exist only where the litigant may lose his physical liberty if he loses the litigation. (*Iraheta v. Superior Court* (1999) 70 Cal.App.4th 1500, 1508.)

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